**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

Plaintiff-Appellee

-vs-

HAROLD LAMONT WALKER

Defendant-Appellant

Supreme Court No. _____

Court of Appeals No. 327063

Lower Court No. 14-7222-01

WAYNE COUNTY PROSECUTOR

Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellee

ADRIENNE N. YOUNG (P77803)

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

BY: ADRIENNE N. YOUNG (P77803)

Assistant Defender

3300 Penobscot Building

645 Griswold

Detroit, Michigan 48226

(313) 256-9833

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. DID THE JUDGE ERR WHERE THE JURY DECLARED IT WAS HUNG AND THE JUDGE RESPONDED WITH AN INSTRUCTION THAT NOT ONLY WAS MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM THE REQUIRED DEADLOCKED-JURY INSTRUCTION, BUT WAS ALSO COERCIVE?

Court of Appeals majority answers, "No"

Court of Appeals dissent answers, "Yes"

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes".

- II. DID THE PROSECUTOR DENY DEFENDANT-APPELLANT HAROLD WALKER HIS RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL WHEN SHE TOLD THE JURY, WITHOUT ANY EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT IN THE RECORD, THAT A KEY DEFENSE WITNESS RISKED ONLY PROBATION FOR ADMITTING THAT HE, NOT MR. WALKER, POSSESSED THE GUN IN QUESTION?

Court of Appeals answers, "No".

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes".

- III. IS MR. WALKER ENTITLED TO A RESENTENCING BEFORE A DIFFERENT JUDGE WHEN OV-19 WAS MISSCORED AFFECTING MR. WALKER'S GUIDELINES RANGE AND WHEN JUDICIAL REASSIGNMENT IS APPROPRIATE UNDER THE LAW?

Court of Appeals answers, "No".

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes".

- IV. WAS THE EVIDENCE INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE FELONY-FIREARM CONVICTION, BECAUSE THE LEGISLATURE DID NOT INTEND FELON-IN-POSSESSION TO BE USED AS THE BASIS OF A FELONY-FIREARM CONVICTION?

Court of Appeals answers, "No".

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes".

JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM AND RELIEF SOUGHT

Mr. Harold Lamont Walker appeals from a December 1, 2016 unpublished 2-1 decision in the Court of Appeals affirming his convictions for carrying a concealed weapon (CCW),¹ felon in possession of a weapon (FIP),² and felony-firearm.³

In this “pretty straightforward case”⁴ involving the unlawful possession of a weapon found in a bush at a small gathering, the jury could not, at first, reach a verdict. Rather than recognize a juror’s right to “maintain his or her good-faith belief,”⁵ the trial court instead sought information regarding jurors’ votes and preferences, labeling the dissenting jurors as those “refusing to participate in the process.”⁶

“Given the climate of Judge Lillard’s courtroom, a dissenting juror needed no weatherman to know which way the winds blew—if identified as the source of disunity, the juror risked the wrath of a vengeful judge.” *People v Walker*, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued December 1, 2016 (Docket No. 327063) (Gleicher, J., *dissenting*), p 5.

The judge’s instruction told the jury nothing that would aid their deliberations save the twice repeated suggestion to report those refusing to participate or follow instructions—in other words, the holdouts. It is all too likely that the jury’s verdict was affected by the judge’s coercive instruction. Mr. Harold Lamont Walker is entitled to a new trial or at the very least, resentencing before a different judge.

¹ MCL 750.227.

² MCL 750.224f.

³ MCL 750.227b.

⁴ 02/25/16 Jury Trial Transcript, p. 22.

⁵ 02/26/15 Jury Trial Transcript, p. 47-48.

⁶ *People v Hardin*, 421 Mich 296, 316; 365 NW2d 101 (1984) (cited at *People v Walker*, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued December 1, 2016 (Docket No. 327063) (Gleicher, J., *dissenting*), p 4).

Mr. Walker also asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' denial of the claims he made in his Standard 4 supplemental brief, a copy of which is attached.

Respectfully submitted,

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

BY: /s/ Adrienne N. Young
ADRIENNE N. YOUNG (P77803)
Assistant Defender
3300 Penobscot Building
645 Griswold
Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 256-9833

Dated: January 26, 2017

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-appellant Harold Lamont Walker stood trial in Wayne Circuit Court on charges of carrying a concealed weapon (CCW),⁷ felon in possession of a weapon (FIP),⁸ and felony-firearm.⁹ A jury convicted him of each charge. Judge Qiana D. Lillard, who presided over the trial, later sentenced Mr. Walker to serve concurrent prison terms of 46-months-to-75-years for the CCW and FIP convictions, and a consecutive ten-year term for felony-firearm as a third offender.

On August 5, 2014, two Detroit Police squad cars were patrolling a residential area in Detroit, MI. Two newer police officers— Officers Marek and Fjolla— drove one squad car and two supervising sergeants— Sergeants Jackson and Gnatek— drove the other squad car. After hearing music coming from the car parked in front of 3486 Algonquin and seeing four adult individuals drinking on or near the sidewalk in front of the home, Officers Marek and Fjolla stopped their car at the house. Sergeants Jackson and Gnatek, who had been following behind, also stopped. Testimony at trial differed as to what happened next.

Mr. Walker testified that as the police officers were pulling up, he was headed toward the front door of 3486 Algonquin, intending to go inside and get cups for the beverages he and his three neighborhood acquaintances were sharing.¹⁰ When he reached the porch, the porch light was not on¹¹ but Mr. Walker still could see two police officers “run up on [him] aggressively.”¹²

⁷ MCL 750.227.

⁸ MCL 750.224f.

⁹ MCL 750.227b.

¹⁰ 02/25/14 jury trial transcript, p 135 L4-5.

¹¹ *Id.* at p. 139 L 13-14 and p 140 L 7-8.

¹² *Id.* at p 137 L 15-16.

Mr. Walker then turned to his side and tossed a beer bottle from his pocket into the bushes; he was on parole and was not supposed to be consuming alcoholic beverages.¹³

The officers' testimony varied regarding Mr. Walker's actions, drinking at the residence, and lighting at the home and on the street.¹⁴ Marek testified that he and his partner Fjolla pursued Mr. Walker at a "fast walk"¹⁵ and observed Walker pull a "large frame revolver"¹⁶ out of his pants pocket and throw it in the bush on the side of the porch. Jackson¹⁷ and Gnatek¹⁸ also testified that they saw Mr. Walker toss a gun into the bush next to the porch.

Fjolla arrested Mr. Walker and Marek placed Mr. Walker in the squad car. Gnatek, who had also gotten out of his squad car with Jackson, recovered a gun from a bush in front of 3486 Algonquin.

The defense argued that the discovery of a gun by the police officers was not without explanation. Darryl Jevon Williams, a witness for the defense, and one of the adults present at 3486 Algonquin the evening of August 5, 2014, testified it was *his* gun that the police officer

¹³ *Id.* at p 137.

¹⁴ 02/25/15 Jury Trial Transcript,

- Mr. Walker's actions: p 38 (OFFICER MAREK: "He threw [the gun] as soon as he pulled it out, it was one quick motion."); p 89-90 (SERGEANT GNATEK: "...I don't know what the rationale was here, but the trajectory [of the gun] was extremely high...")
- Drinking: p 46 L17-19 (MS. ROLPH: Okay, but you could see that Mr. Walker is drinking? OFFICER MAREK: "Like I said, I don't know, I think he dropped it as he was running—walking, I'm sorry."); p.88 L10-15 (MS. ROLPH: "Were there bottles on the ground, like scattered about? SERGEANT GNATEK: I know there was one or two bottles."... MS. ROLPH: "Okay, and were all the individuals drinking that day?" SERGEANT GNATEK: "That I don't know.")
- Lighting: p 77 L12-14 (SERGEANT JACKSON: "I don't recall if all of [the street lights were working], but there was some artificial lighting...."); Jurors asked both Officer Marek and Sergeant Jackson about the presence/quality of the lighting that evening.

¹⁵ *Id.* at p 36 L 19.

¹⁶ *Id.* at p 38 L 13-15.

¹⁷ *Id.* at p 62.

¹⁸ *Id.* at 82-83.

discovered in the bushes. Mr. Williams explained that he hid his own gun in the bushes prior to Mr. Walker's arrival, knowing that Mr. Walker could not be around guns as a result of parole.¹⁹

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Mr. Williams about his criminal history:

Prosecutor: All right. You would agree with me. Okay. Okay, so let's just say this, you're in the Michigan Department of Corrections, you're currently a prisoner of the Michigan Department of Corrections, right?

Witness: Yes, ma'am.

Prosecutor: And you are serving a prison sentence, is that correct?

Witness: Yes, ma'am.

Prosecutor: In fact, you're doing three to fifteen years on a [sic] armed robbery, correct?

Witness: Yes, ma'am.

Prosecutor: And you're doing some time for the weapon that you possessed?

Witness: Two years.²⁰

No evidence was presented to show what punishment Mr. Williams would have received if he were to be prosecuted for illegally possessing or carrying the gun alleged to have been Mr. Walker's.

Nevertheless, in closing rebuttal the prosecutor argued as follows:

Why would Mr. Williams come in here and say that the gun belonged to him. Because he told it, he had no prior record, *it's not like he's gonna get any type of additional time for having this gun. He was looking at probation*—in fact...²¹

Defense counsel objected and the trial court sustained the objection..²¹

¹⁹ 02/25/15 Jury Trial Transcript, p 109 L 4-6 (MS. ROLPH: Okay. And there's something—an action you take before he [Mr. Walker] comes to the house? MR. WILLIAMS: I put a gun behind the bushes.) From the street view of the Google Maps, there appears to be one or two small bushes in which items could effectively be tossed or hid. <https://www.google.com/maps/place/3486+Algonquin+St,+Detroit,+MI+48215/@42.3821783,-82.9642822,3a,15y,43.07h,82.83t/data=!3m6!1e1!3m4!1sPcxdnw845zIDIGMSCuscAw!2e0!7i13312!8i6656!4m2!3m1!1s0x8824d45b0364c0d1:0xa12e847d72534706!6m1!1e1>

²⁰ 02/25/15 jury trial transcript, p 112, L 10-22.

About an hour and fifteen minutes into deliberations, the jury foreperson sent the judge a note that read: “We are hung, and I don’t believe there will [be] an agreement with more time.”²²

Rather than consult with counsel about how to respond, the judge simply informed counsel of her plans. She announced she was “not prepared to read them the deadlock instruction, because I don’t believe that they’ve even attempted to deliberate at this point.”²³ Instead, she informed the jury “[t]hat’s not the way this works, they can’t deliberate for a [sic] hour and give up.”²⁴ She also told them that “if there’s someone back there, a member of the jury, any member of the jury who’s not following the instructions, they can send a note and let us know that, too.”²⁵

Not pausing for input or objections, the judge asked counsel “Is there anything else?”²⁶ When counsel answered no,²⁷ the judge called the jury back to the courtroom and gave the following instruction:

Well, that’s not the way this works. Your [sic] all heard a full day of testimony, and you deliberated for what an hour and fifteen minutes, and now you just give up. That’s not the way it works, I’m sending you all to lunch, maybe what you need is some nourishment, other than candy, to help you all, you know, have clear heads and review the evidence that you heard.

Now, if there’s someone among you who’s failing to follow the instructions or there’s someone who’s refusing to participate in the process, you can send us a note and let us know that and we can address that, but at this point I’m not inclined to end your deliberations at this point because you had a full day of testimony and you’ve only been at this, discussing it, for one hour.

So, I’m going to send you to lunch, maybe sometime apart will help you all to think about things, and then you’ll come back in

²¹ *Id.* L 17-18.

²² 02/26/15 Jury Trial Transcript, p. 47.

²³ *Id.* at p. 46.

²⁴ *Id.* at p. 45.

²⁵ *Id.*

²⁶ *Id.* at p. 46.

²⁷ *Id.*

one hour and resume your deliberations. If you have any questions, if there is anything that you don't understand or need clarification on send a note. And again, if there's one among you or two among you, three among you, who are refusing to follow instructions or participate in the process you can let us know that, too.

Remember you are not to discuss this case, when you are anywhere other than in the jury room cause you're still a juror. So even if you go to lunch together some of you, you can not [sic] discuss this case cause you can only discuss it when you're all together and when you're in the jury room.^[28]

After lunch, the jury resumed deliberations and reached a verdict of guilty on all three counts.²⁹

At sentencing, the prosecutor argued that OV-19 should be scored 10 points for "interfer[ence] with the administration of justice"³⁰ because Mr. Walker "refused to provide his name to the police officers."³¹ Defense counsel disagreed.³² Judge Lillard adopted the prosecutor's rationale for the 10-point score:

The Court: ...I mean he does have a right to remain silent to a certain extent but, you know, I think he was intentionally not giving his name because he knew what kind of trouble he was in.^[33]

The judge gave a second reason for the score: that Mr. Walker interfered with the administration of justice "by that sham of a testimony he put forth....I think he conspired with Mr. Williams while Mr. Williams was in custody in the Wayne County jail awaiting trial, and they trumped up that phony, bogus testimony."³⁴

²⁸ 02/26/15 Jury Trial Transcript, p. 47-48.

²⁹ Per the request of defense counsel the jury was polled and each juror indicated that this was, in fact, their vote.

³⁰ MCL 777.49(c).

³¹ 03/12/15 Sentencing Transcript, p 5 L18-22.

³² 03/12/15 Sentencing Transcript, p 6, L1-3.

³³ *Id.* L7-10.

³⁴ *Id.* L16-19.

The 10-point OV-19 score changed Mr. Walker's guidelines range from 7 to 46 months to 10 months to 46 months.

During his sentencing hearing, Mr. Walker asserted his innocence and protested that he had never seen Mr. Williams in the Wayne County jail. Judge Lillard responded that she thought Mr. Walker "made up that whole story, because it didn't make any sense."³⁵ Communication between Mr. Walker and Judge Lillard quickly turned hostile:

Defendant: Man, whatever, I'm thew (sic) talking, do what you goin' (sic) do.

The Court: You think you can tell me what to do?

Defendant: Do what you goin' to do. You telling me what to do, I'm grown.

The Court: We can stay here all day, you realize that?

Defendant: I'm grown, I'm grown, I don't talk.

The Court: Do you realize that? You don't talk, what is that a threat?

Defendant: I'm thew (sic) talking.

The Court: Is that a threat, clown?

Defendant: I'm thew (sic) talking.

The Court: Is that a threat, clown?

Defendant: I'm thew [sic] talking.

The Court: Is that a threat, clown?

Defendant: Clown.

The Court: That's what you acting like.

Defendant: Okay.

The Court: That's what you're acting like, a

³⁵ *Id.* p 11, L7-8

clown.

I have done nothing, but be courteous to you. When they suggested that you might have some history of mental illness, I made sure that you went and got your evaluation. When your lawyer was sick, and she was willing to try your case, even though she was sick, and vomiting and asking for a basket so that she could throw up. I said that wouldn't be fair to you...

Defendant: How about when you threatened my mother?

The Court: ... I'm talking now. I'm talking now, clown.^[36]

The Court then acknowledged that this exchange would affect Mr. Walker's sentence:

I've done nothing but be fair to you, but you know what cowards do, when cowards don't want to accept responsibility for their own foolish behavior, they make threats, they try to act like they're tough, and they wanna shift blame. And that's what you did and, you know, I'm [sic] don't blame you, but that's why you're getting maximum time because you acted like a clown today.

I was inclined to give you the middle of the road, which is what Ms. Stanford [the prosecutor] was asking for, but because you're so disrespectful and you just seem to want to go back to prison....^[37]

Ultimately, Judge Lillard asked her deputies to remove Mr. Walker from the courtroom and said to him, "Goodbye, clown." Mr. Walker responded "fuck you," and the court replied, twice, "Oh, you wish you could."³⁸

For the CCW and FIP convictions, Judge Lillard sentenced Mr. Walker at the high end of the guidelines range to a sentence of 46 months to 75 years for felon-in-possession and CCW, to be served consecutively to Mr. Walker's mandatory 10-year prison term for felony-firearm. In a 2-1 decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Walker's convictions and sentence.³⁹ The

³⁶ 3/12/15 sentencing transcript, pp 14-15; *see also* Attachment 1.

³⁷ 3/12/15 sentencing transcript, 16, L12-22.

³⁸ 3/12/15 sentencing transcript, 19.

³⁹ On appeal, the Court of Appeals agreed that the "felony-firearm conviction should run consecutive to his felon-in-possession conviction only, not his CCW conviction." *People v Walker*, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued December 1, 2016 (Docket No. 327063) 6.

majority dedicated an entire section of the opinion to the trial court's "certainly inappropriate...name calling, taunting, and other inappropriate innuendos," but nevertheless found that Mr. Walker's convictions and sentences should stand. *People v Walker*, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued December 1, 2016 (Docket No. 327063), p 12. Judge Gleicher would have reversed the jury's verdict on the ground of coercive jury instruction. *Walker*, (Gliecher, J., *dissenting*) unpub op at 6.

I. THE JUDGE ERRED WHERE THE JURY DECLARED IT WAS HUNG AND THE JUDGE RESPONDED WITH AN INSTRUCTION THAT NOT ONLY WAS MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM THE REQUIRED DEADLOCKED-JURY INSTRUCTION, BUT WAS ALSO COERCIVE.

Standard of Review:

This Court reviews *de novo* claims of preserved instructional error.⁴⁰

Claims of unpreserved instructional error are reviewed for plain error under the standards set forth in *People v Carines*, 460 Mich 750, 774 (1999). *People v Hawthorne*, 474 Mich 174, 176 n1 (2006).

Issue Preservation:

Although defense counsel did not object to the instructions provided to the jury after the jurors indicated they could not reach an agreement, the legal issue regarding these instructions is nevertheless preserved because the trial court announced its decision without giving counsel an opportunity to object. Whether counsel was given an “ample opportunity to object to the instructions” is a key factor in deciding whether an appellate court may consider an instructional-error claim.⁴¹ After all, the purpose of issue preservation is to allow the trial court to have an opportunity to consider an issue and avoid the possibility of an appellate parachute.⁴² Where the judge has already ruled, those considerations no longer apply. Because Judge Lillard failed to offer the attorneys an opportunity to object or request a different jury instruction, this Court should treat the issue as preserved.

⁴⁰ *People v Rouse*, 272 Mich App 665, 669, 728 NW2d 874 (2006); *United States v Adams*, 740 F3d 40, 45 (CA 1) cert den 134 S Ct 2739; 189 L Ed 2d 775 (2014) (“ Generally speaking, we review a district court’s construction of law de novo and its choice of language and emphasis for abuse of discretion. See *United States v. Sasso*, 695 F.3d 25, 29 (1st Cir.2012). Of course, “[e]ven an incorrect instruction to which an objection has been preserved will not require us to set aside a verdict if the error is harmless.” *Id.*).

⁴¹ *People v Coffey*, 42 Mich App 683, 688 (1972).

⁴² See *People v Carter*, 462 Mich 206, 214; 612 NW2d 144 (2000).

Discussion:

After a three-day jury trial, jurors in Mr. Walker's case deliberated for over an hour, and then sent a note to the judge stating, "We are hung, and I don't believe there will [be] an agreement with more time."⁴³

The judge called the jurors into the courtroom and, rather than read the standard deadlocked-jury instruction, told them "that's not the way this works, I'm sending you all to lunch." The judge added that the jury would have to "come back in one hour and resume your deliberations," and twice told them "if there's someone among you who's failing to follow the instructions or there's someone who's refusing to participate in the process, you can send us a note and let us know that and we can address that."⁴⁴

No further instructions were provided to the jurors. At 3:07 p.m., about an hour after returning from lunch, the jury sent a note indicating they had reached a verdict.⁴⁵

Judge Lillard erred by giving an instruction that not only was a substantial departure from the standard deadlocked-jury instruction, but was also coercive.

i. Judge Lillard gave an instruction.

In the first place, what Judge Lillard told the deadlocked jury was not simply a ministerial communication but instead an instruction. Any time the court reminds the deliberating and purportedly deadlocked jury of the principles of a thorough and complete deliberation, it has issued an instruction.⁴⁶ True, this Court once held that a judge's directive to a stalemated jury that it had not deliberated long enough and should continue deliberations did not amount to an

⁴³ 02/26/15 jury trial transcript, 47 L13-14.

⁴⁴ 2/26/15 jury trial transcript, pp 47-48.

⁴⁵ Judge Michael Hathaway, not Judge Lillard, took the verdict.

⁴⁶ See *People v Goldsmith*, 411 Mich 555, 557-58; 309 NW2d 182, 183-84 (1981); *People v Sullivan*, 392 Mich 324, 327-329, 220 NW2d 441 (1974).

instruction.⁴⁷ Here, though, the judge did more than that. By twice suggesting the jury should inform the court if a few jurors were “refusing to follow the instructions or participate in the process,” the judge gave an instruction within the meaning of *Goldsmith* and *Sullivan*.

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