STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v

HAROLD WALKER,
Defendant – Appellant.

Supreme Court
No.: 155198

Court of Appeals No.: 327063
Third Circuit Court No.: 14-7222-01

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S ANSWER IN OPPOSITION
TO DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

KYML WORTHY
Prosecuting Attorney
County of Wayne

JASON W. WILLIAMS
Chief of Research, Training, and Appeals

JONATHAN A. MYCEK (P74620)
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney
11th Floor, 1441 St. Antoine Street
Detroit, Michigan 48226
Phone: (313) 224-7616

STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN
Plaintiff-Appellee,

Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I.

A prosecutor may fairly respond to arguments first raised by the Defendant in argument. Here, the Defendant raised witness Devon Williams’s potential punishment for admitting to another crime in bolstering his credibility; in response the prosecutor attacked Williams’ credibility with an on-the-record inferential analysis of the facts, law, and attendant circumstances. The prosecutor’s reasonable inference was a fair response to Defendant which did not deprive Defendant of a fair trial.

Standard of Review

Where issues of prosecutorial error are preserved, as here, this Court reviews them *de novo* to determine whether the defendant was denied a fair and impartial trial.¹

Discussion

Defendant claims prosecutor misconduct in the closing argument deprived him of a fair trial.² The term “prosecutorial misconduct” is an antiquated and needlessly inflammatory term of art which is better, and more accurately, termed “prosecutor error” in a recent case by this Court. In *People v. Cooper*, 309 Mich. App. 74 (2015), this Court held:

...it is a misnomer to label claims such as this one as ‘prosecutorial misconduct.’ This concern for the proper phrase is not a case of mere political correctness, for the term misconduct has a specific legal meaning and connotation when it comes to attorney conduct, and is in general limited to instances of illegal conduct, fraud, misrepresentation, or violation of the rules of professional misconduct. See MRPC 8.4 and *Grievance Administrator v. Deutch*, 455 Mich. 149, 164; 565 NW2d 369 (1997). Although we recognize that the phrase prosecutorial misconduct has become a term of art in criminal appeals we agree that the term ‘misconduct’ is more appropriately applied to those extreme and rare—and thankfully rare—instances where a prosecutor’s conduct violates the rules of professional conduct or constitutes illegal conduct.”³

¹ *People v. Bennett*, 290 Mich. App. 465, 475 (2010)

² Defendant’s Brief on Appeal, beginning at page 8

³ *People v. Cooper*, 309 Mich. App. 74, 87–88 (2015)

The Court of Appeals reasoned that the majority of claims that a prosecutor made a technical error or an inadvertent error at trial “might be better and more fairly presented as claims of ‘prosecutorial error,’ with only the most extreme cases rising to the level of ‘prosecutorial misconduct.’”⁴ Thus, the Court concluded, that the majority of prosecutorial misconduct claims may be more accurately labeled as claims of prosecutorial error, with only those claims involving illegal conduct or a violation of the Michigan Rules of Professional Conduct rising to the level of misconduct.⁵ Accordingly, the terms “prosecutor error” or “prosecutorial error” will be used in place of “prosecutorial misconduct” for the following argument.

Prosecutorial error issues are decided on a case-by-case basis, and the reviewing court must examine the record and evaluate a prosecutor's remarks in context.⁶ The test to determine whether a defendant is entitled to a new trial is to determine whether the prosecutor committed error that deprived the defendant of a fair and impartial trial.⁷ That being said, it should be noted that the prosecution need not limit its argument to the blandest of terms⁸ and prosecutors are afforded great latitude in arguments and conduct at trial.⁹

Defendant claims he is entitled to relief because the trial prosecutor – in rebuttal – erroneously claimed Defendant’s witness, Darryl Williams, risked “practically nothing by confessing guilt”¹⁰ and that he was “looking at probation.”¹¹ It is true there was no testimony concerning this witness’s punishment under a hypothetical criminal weapons charge. The

⁴ *Id.* at page 88

⁵ *People v. Cooper*, 309 Mich. App. 74, 87–88 (2015)

⁶ See *People v. Brown*, 294 Mich. App. 377, 382–383 (2011)

⁷ *Id.* at page 88

⁸ *People v. Dobek*, 274 Mich. App. 58, 66 (2007)

⁹ *People v. Unger*, 278 Mich. App. 210, 236 (2008)

¹⁰ Defendant’s Brief on Appeal, page 8

¹¹ *Id.* citing to *People v. Harold Walker*, Jury Trial Transcript – February 26, 2015 at page 28

comment was, however, a reasonable professional analysis in fair response to the defense's closing argument and did not deprive Defendant of a fair trial.

A. The Prosecutor's fair response did not deprive Defendant of a fair trial.

The prosecutor's initial argument concerning Williams's credibility touched on his story, the prior conviction for armed robbery, and that he was already in MDOC.¹² Defendant's counter-position built upon the prosecutor's appropriate argument and referenced, for the first time, potential future punishment. Defendant argued that it made no sense for Williams, who was already serving a sentence with the Michigan Department of Corrections (MDOC), to attend court just to admit to another crime that would result in more punishment.¹³ Defendant first referenced the issue of additional punishment and the prosecutor's rebuttal was in-kind. "A prosecutor may fairly respond to an issue raised by the defendant"¹⁴ and the trial prosecutor did so here. The prosecutor's argument was an on-the-record extrapolation of what that charge and punishment could have been, given her analysis of the law, the witness, and the attendant factual circumstances provided in the trial record. Though this statement, alone, could have been erroneous, this Court has held that an otherwise improper remark by a prosecutor may not rise to error requiring reversal if it is responsive to defense counsel's argument.¹⁵ Because Defendant's argument referenced what Williams's future punishment might be, it was appropriate for the trial prosecutor to respond. Accordingly, the prosecution's fair response did not deprive Defendant of a fair trial.

¹² *People v. Harold Walker*, Jury Trial Transcript – February 26, 2015 at pages 9-11

¹³ *Id.* at pages 16-17

¹⁴ *People v. Brown*, 279 Mich. App. 116, 135 (2008)

¹⁵ *People v. Kennebrew*, 220 Mich. App. 601, 608 (1996)

B. Even if the Prosecutor's comment was inappropriate, Defendant did not receive an unfair trial.

Alternatively, if the prosecutor's fair response comment was inappropriate, Defendant's timely objection identified the error, kept the prosecutor from continuing, and protected Defendant's right to a fair trial. Moreover, the court's instruction further protected Defendant from any fair trial prejudice.

First, the record shows that after defense counsel objected to the prosecutor's comments, the prosecutor stopped the statement and shifted her focus from potential punishment to attacking the witness's failure to tell the police the gun was his when Defendant was arrested. The prosecutor concluded her argument by refocusing the jury's attention on the evidence presented – that being Williams' failure to come forward earlier, a summary of the arresting officers' testimony, the premise that in light of the officers' testimony, fingerprints were unnecessary, Williams's questionable identification of the recovered weapon's color, and a conclusory synopsis of the prosecution's case theory.¹⁶ Though the "bell cannot be un-rung," the prosecutor's adherence to the objection and avoidance of the topic in the balance of the rebuttal essentially firewalled the brief reference. This fleeting reference, in light of the balance of the evidence presented did not deprive Defendant of a fair trial.

Second, the court twice instructed the jury that the lawyers' statements were meant to help the jury understand the way each side views the case¹⁷ and that the arguments and statements were not evidence.¹⁸ Moreover, the trial court instructed the jury that their decision should be based on all the admitted evidence, regardless of the side that produced it.¹⁹ As jurors are presumed to follow their instructions, and they were properly – and repeatedly – instructed

¹⁶ *People v. Harold Walker*, Jury Trial Transcript – February 26, 2015 at pages 28-29

¹⁷ *Id.* at pages 4, 13

¹⁸ *Id.* at pages 32, 13

¹⁹ *Id.* at pages 33, 13

that the lawyers' arguments were not evidence, their decision in this matter was based upon the evidence and not a potentially erroneous comment from the trial prosecutor.²⁰ Accordingly, any error which might have occurred was cured by the trial court's instruction and the Defendant was not deprived of a fair trial.²¹

²⁰ See *People v. Mesik (On Reconsideration)*, 285 Mich. 535, 541-542 (2009) which notes that even when a prosecutor argues facts not in evidence, proper jury instructions cure most errors because jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions.

²¹ *People v. Unger*, 288 Mich. App. 210, 235 (2008)

II.

Where a court departs from jury instructions with language which does not pressure, threaten, embarrass, or otherwise coerce a jury, the departure rarely constitutes reversible error. Here, the jury reported it was deadlocked after 88 minutes; the court (1) concluded this was insufficient for substantive deliberations to have occurred; (2) reminded the jury of their duty to evaluate the evidence; and (3) re-provided instructions to foster discussion. Defendant has not shown plain error where the court would not have caused a juror to abandon his or her dissent to defer to the majority solely for the sake of reaching agreement.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews preserved claims of instructional error *de novo*.²² This Court reviews a trial court's decision on whether a jury instruction was necessary based on the applicable facts for an abuse of discretion.²³ This Court defers to the trial court's judgment, and if the trial court's decision results in an outcome within the range of principled outcomes, it has not abused its discretion.²⁴ Where an instructional error is unpreserved, however, plain error review applies.

To preserve an issue of instructional error, a defendant is required object or request the provision of a different instruction before the jury deliberates.²⁵ Here, on the first day of deliberations, the jury sent a note saying they were “hung.”²⁶ The trial court informed the respective counsels that she would provide an *ad hoc* instruction and if the jury so persisted, she would read the *Allen* deadlocked jury instruction.²⁷ The trial court gave the counsels an opportunity to object and neither did.²⁸ The court gave her *ad hoc* instruction and sent the jury

²² *People v. Fennell*, 260 Mich. App. 261, 264 (2004)

²³ *People v. Gillis*, 474 Mich. 105, 113 (2006)

²⁴ *People v. Dupree*, 486 Mich. 693, 702 (2010)

²⁵ MCL 768.29; MCR 2.512(C); *People v. Hardin*, 421 Mich. 296 (1984); *People v. Gonzalez*, 256 Mich. App. 212, 225 (2003)

²⁶ *People v. Harold Walker*, Jury Trial Transcript – February 26, 2015 at pages 45, 47

²⁷ *Id.* at pages 45-46

²⁸ *Id.* at page 46

back to deliberate further.²⁹ Because the record clearly shows Defendant did not object to trial court's plan and action, the issue is unpreserved for appellate review. Accordingly, this Court should only reverse upon a plain error that substantially affects the fairness or integrity of the judicial proceedings.³⁰ Stated differently, a defendant has the burden of establishing that the (1) error occurred, (2) the error was plain, i.e. clear or obvious, and (3) the plain error affected substantial rights; this generally requires a showing of prejudice, i.e., that the error affected the outcome of the lower court proceedings. An error is outcome determinative if it undermined the reliability of the verdict.³¹ Furthermore, once a defendant satisfies these three requirements, an appellate court must still exercise its discretion in deciding whether to reverse. Reversal is warranted only when the plain, forfeited error resulted in the conviction of an actually innocent defendant, or when the error seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings independent of the defendant's innocence.³²

Discussion

Defendant argues under both the *de novo* and plain error standards of review that the trial court's *ad hoc* jury instruction concerning the "hung jury" note 1 hour and 28 minutes after being charged requires reversal.³³ Defendant alleges that the court's instruction substantially departed from the jury instruction and coerced the jury into a verdict.³⁴ Defendant failed to object or provide an alternative for the trial court's instruction; the issue is unpreserved and should not be examined *de novo*. Plain error analysis applies. Even under a plain error-analysis, however, Defendant is not entitled to relief because the court's *ad hoc* instruction was intended to remind

²⁹ *People v. Harold Walker*, Jury Trial Transcript – February 26, 2015 at pages 47-48

³⁰ *People v. Carines*, 460 Mich. 750, 761–764 (1992)

³¹ *People v. Hawthorne*, 474 Mich. 174, 181-182 (2006)

³² *Carines*, supra at 763

³³ Defendant's Brief on Appeal, pages 13 and 17

³⁴ *Id.* at page 12

the jury to evaluate the evidence presented and designed to generate discussion, nothing more. Since no coercion occurred, there was no error and without that error, Defendant cannot show prejudice. Defendant's argument should be rejected and his relief denied.

A. Defendant failed to object or provide an alternative for the trial court's instruction; the issue is unpreserved and should be examined for plain error.

Defendant's *de novo* analysis erroneously assumes the instructional claim was preserved because the trial court did not allow sufficient time for counsel to object.³⁵ As noted above, the record shows otherwise. The court explained her plan and asked the parties, "Is there anything else?"³⁶ Here she invited comment, objection, alternative suggestions and hearing none, she proceeded according to the articulated plan, without objection.³⁷ Without an objection or a request for a different instruction, Defendant's claim is unpreserved and should be analyzed according to a plain error standard. Accordingly, this Court should reject Defendant's *de novo* arguments and only address his plain error-based position.

B. The trial court's *ad hoc* instruction did not coerce the jury into a verdict, but was designed to remind the jury of their deliberative duties.

In *People v Sullivan*,³⁸ this Court adopted the use of ABA standard jury instruction 5.4 as an appropriate instruction to provide in the event of a deadlocked jury. The Court cautioned that "[a]ny substantial departure therefrom shall be grounds for reversible error."³⁹ Michigan's Model Criminal Jury Instructions have incorporated the standard adopted in *Sullivan*.⁴⁰ M Crim JI 3.12 instructs the jury:

- (1) You have returned from deliberations, indicating that you believe you cannot reach a verdict. I am going to ask you to

³⁵ Defendant's Brief on Appeal, page 12

³⁶ *People v. Harold Walker*, Jury Trial Transcript – February 26, 2015 at page 46

³⁷ *Id.* at pages 47-48

³⁸ *People v Sullivan*, 392 Mich. 324, 342 (1974)

³⁹ *Id.*

⁴⁰ *People v Pollick*, 448 Mich 376, 382, n 12 (1995)

please return to the jury room and resume your deliberations in the hope that after further discussion you will be able to reach a verdict. As you deliberate, please keep in mind the guidelines I gave you earlier.

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